MARVIN JONES,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC04-282

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 322059

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The instant appeal arises from the trial court's denial of the Appellant, Mr. Jones's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. This is a capital proceeding. The record on appeal consists of six volumes, which will be referenced by the use of roman numerals. References to page numbers in the record will be designated as "R" followed by the appropriate page number. The hearing transcripts are not in chronological or numerical order. Volume VI contains the first day of testimony, Volume IV a continuation of the first day of testimony, and Volume V contains the transcripts of the second day of testimony. The parties are the Appellant, Mr. Jones, who will be referred to as the Appellant or Mr. Jones and the Appellee, the State of Florida, who will be referred to as the "State".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 18, 1993, the Appellant, Marvin Jones, was indicted for the First-Degree Murder of Monique Stow and the Attempted First-Degree Murder of Ezra Stow on March 3, 1993.(I,R7-9) Mr. Jones was convicted of both offenses, as charged, by a jury and a sentence of death as to count 1

and a sentence of life in prison as to count 2 were imposed on May 31, 1994.(I,R126)

Mr. Jones sought direct appellate relief from this court, which affirmed the judgment and sentence on December 26, 1996 in an opinion cited at <u>Jones v. State</u>, 690 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 1996). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on October 6, 1997. <u>See</u>, <u>Jones v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 522 U.S. 880, 118 S.Ct. 205, 139 L.Ed. 2d 141 (1997).

Mr. Jones was appointed counsel through the attorney his post-conviction registry to represent him in proceedings on September 1, 1998.(I,R17-18) The Office of Capital Collateral Counsel for the Northern Region ("CCC-NR") filed a shell Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on behalf of Mr. Jones on September 17, 1998 due to the late appointment of registry counsel in relation to the one-year deadline and had sought withdrawal from the representation of Mr. Jones.(I,R19-59;III,R532) Counsel for Mr. Jones filed his Notice of Appearance on December 28, 1998. (I,R67;III,R531-532)

On December 3, 2001, defense counsel filed a Notice of Intention to Interview Jurors, wherein counsel advised the court that he had reason to believe that improper juror

conduct may have occurred based upon certain claims made in the Motion for New Trial and Amended Motion for New Trial and the content of juror interview reported in the Florida Times Union on March 12, 1995.(I,R100-107) The State filed their written objection to any juror interviews on December 10, 2001.(I,R108-118) The trial court denied the defendant's request on March 25, 2002.(I,R120-121) The trial court filed a more detailed Memorandum on Ruling on Defendant's Notice of Intention to Interview Jurors on June 3, 2002.(I,R216-223)

An Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was filed on April 29, 2002 (I,R126-200;II,R201-215). The Motion for Post-Conviction Relief alleged 23 grounds upon which relief should be granted. The State filed their response on June 13, 2002. (II,R226-274) The State conceded that an evidentiary hearing was necessary on Grounds1, 13, 14, 15. (II,R226-274;III,R552) The State requested summary denial on all remaining grounds. Following a Huff hearing on August 9, 2002 (III,R559-600;IV R601-619),the trial court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on grounds 1,3,4,5,6,7,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16, and 21.(II,R356-358) The remaining grounds (2,8,17,18,19,20,22, and 23) would be

ruled on without a hearing. (II,R358;III,R575)

On August 23, 2002, a Supplement to the Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was filed.(II,R345-355) The Supplement addressed the then-recent holding of the United States Supreme Court in <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002). The State response was filed on September 12, 2002. (II,R362-400; III,R401-405).

An evidentiary hearing was conducted from October 21 through October 23, 2002.(IV,V,and VI) A summary of the testimony from the hearing will be presented in the Statement of the Facts. At the onset of the hearing the State agreed to stipulate that a mitigating factor present in this case was the courteous and at all times maintained favorable and positive courtroom behavior and never, at any time, acted in such any way that would have offended the victim's family.(VI,R992-993)

Mr. Jones's written closing argument was submitted to the trial court on December 11, 2003.(III,R412-427)

The trial court issued an order on January 23, 2004 denying the Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. (III,R428-471) The trial court found that on each of the fourteen grounds claiming ineffective assistance of counsel no relief should be granted(1,3,5,6,9,10,11,12,13,14,15) or that the claim was procedurally barred(grounds 4,7,10,) The trial court denied ground 2 for the reasons set forth previously when the motion to interview jurors was denied. (III,R434) The trial court found he was without authority to address ground 8. (III,R442) Ground 22 was denied for lack of evidence. (III,R 459) Ground 23, a claim of cumulative error was denied based upon the reasons set forth for denying the individual grounds.(III,R459) The Supplemental Grounds arising from the application of <u>Ring</u> and <u>Apprendi</u> were denied based upon rulings from this Court.(III,R460)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on February 20, 2004. (III,R472-506)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Attorney Frank Tassone testified that he has practiced law since 1973 in the State of Florida.(VI,R996) He worked as an Assistant State Attorney from 1973 through 1980. (VI,R997) He then worked as a director for FDLE from 1980 through 1982.(VI,R997) In 1982 he entered private practice. He was appointed to represent Mr. Jones in 1993.(VI,R997-998) His private practice was approximately 50% criminal and 50% civil. (VI,R999) As of 1993, Mr. Tassone had been responsible for 10-15 first-degree murder cases as a

defense attorney, of which approximately 50% were death penalty cases.(VI,R999) Of those 15 total cases, maybe 5 had gone to trial. (VI,R1001) Mr. Tassone generally worked alone on these cases and never had the opportunity to work as co-counsel with an experienced defense death penalty attorney. (VI,R1003) Mr. Tassone could not recall if he had attended available death penalty training for attorneys.(VI,R1004)

Mr. Tassone agreed that he would normally retain the records from a capital case in his office.(VI,R1006) On March 21, 1994 a fire in his office destroyed the files and records relating to Mr. Jones.(VI,R1008) All notes, correspondence, research, and investigative documents and were destroyed.(VI,R1008-10) The lack of notes any documents relating to his representation of Mr. Jones made it difficult for him to testify at this proceeding. (VI,R1010)

Mr. Tassone testified that he believed that he had the Florida Public Defender Manual on Trying Capital Cases in Florida in 1994.(VI,R1011) He acknowledged that a large section of that manual was dedicated to jury instructions and that it was crucial in a capital case to preserve legal issues, including issues which have had adverse rulings in

б

the past.(VI,R1011) Mr. Tassone believed that a defense lawyer's responsibility was to preserve any issue adverse to his client despite adverse rulings on the same issue by an appellate court.(VI,R1012)

Mr. Tassone also agreed that a defense lawyer's job was to try to mitigate or attack the weight of the aggravating factors and to try to raise a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jurors as to the existence of the aggravating factors.(VI,R1058-59) The defense lawyer also has an obligation to present evidence establishing a mitigating factor.(VI,R1059) The defense lawyer must also convince the judge and jury to give the mitigating circumstances great weight.(VI,R1060) For example, а witness who testifies that the defendant is a good brother is more effective if examples of conduct and the basis for that claim are testified to.(VI,R1061)

In Ground X of the Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief the claim for relief was predicated upon the giving of a defective jury instruction which Mr. Jones asserted improperly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant in establishing mitigating circumstances.(VI,R1012) Mr. Tassone did not believe that he had asked for any jury instruction to clarify the burden of proof and had not

objected to the standard instruction.(VI,R1012) He could not recall if he was familiar with the recommendation in the Defending Capital Cases Manuel that supplementary special jury instructions should be requested. (VI,R1015-16) He did not ask for any special instructions. (VI,R1016)

Although claiming to have studied and to being familiar with <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, Mr. Tassone could not provide either the facts or a summary of the holding of that case at the time of his testimony.(VI,R1013) When defense counsel explained that <u>Caldwell</u> held that it was improper to minimize or denigrate the role of the jury in capital cases, Mr. Tassone agreed with that summary.

(VI,R1013) Mr. Tassone could not recall if he was familiar with the defense bar challenges to the Florida jury instructions under <u>Caldwell</u> and as outlined in the Defending Capital Cases Manual in existence in 1993. (VI,R1013-14) Mr. Tassone did not believe that he pursued any challenges to the jury instructions under <u>Caldwell</u>, even though <u>Caldwell</u> had been issued in 1985.(VI,R1014)

Mr. Tassone agreed that one aggravator relied upon by the State, which the jury was instructed on, was the prior violent felony aggravating factor.(VI,R1016) It was based

upon the simultaneous attempted first-degree murder charge of Mr. Stow.(VI,R1016A) Mr. Jones had no prior record save that contemporaneous conviction.(VI,R1016A) Mr. Tassone filed no objection use of a contemporaneous felony as an aggravating factor, acknowledging a ruling from the Florida Supreme Court upholding that use of a contemporaneous conviction for use as a prior violent felony.(VI,R1016A)

Mr. Tassone acknowledged that the jury was also instructed that Mr. Jones had no significant criminal history.(VI,R1018) He acknowledged that it would be confusing for a jury to hear that a prior violent felony could serve as an aggravator and that no prior record could serve as a mitigating factor, but did not ask for a special jury instruction to clarify that the contemporaneous conviction could not rebut the no significant criminal history mitigating factor.(VI,R1019)

The aggravating factor of cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) was presented to the jury in this case. (VI,R1020) After penalty phase, but before sentencing, the jury instruction for CCP was found unconstitutional by this Court.(VI,R1021) Mr. Tassone acknowledged that the heinous, atrocious, and cruel(HAC) instruction had been found unconstitutional prior to Mr. Jones's trial.(VI,R1021) Mr.

Jones took no action to seek any relief due to the fact that an unconstitutional jury instruction had been given.

The appravating factor of pecuniary gain was also presented in this case.(VI,R1022) Mr. Tassone stated that he would have made an effort to be familiar with the Florida Supreme Court case law as to what was required in order to support a finding of pecuniary gain.(VI,R1022) Mr. Tassone believed that in 1994 pecuniary gain had to be some type of a necessary and unequivocal step in the course of committing the crime in order to be applied as an aggravator.(VI,R1023) Mr. Tassone agreed that if property was taken as an afterthought, the pecuniary gain aggravator would not apply.(VI,R1024) In this case the standard jury instruction was given and Mr. Tassone did not request a special instruction that would have further explained the after thought aspect of the application of the pecuniary gain aggravator to the jury.(VI,R1024-25) Mr. Jones was not charged with any underlying felonies such as robbery or burglary.(VI,R1027) The jury was not instructed on felony murder.(VI,R1028) Mr. Tassone acknowledged that an attorney must be prepared to combat and rebut appravating factors. (VI,R1029) Mr. Tassone believed that if the jury rejected a claim of self-defense, that his theory as to the cause of

the crime was that it arose out of anger as a result of difficulties with the car and that the paperwork relating to the car was taken as an afterthought.(VI,R1032) The state's theory was that the crime occurred in order to take property (the car).(VI,R1034) Mr. Tassone acknowledged that he failed to argue his theory of the penalty phase defense to the jury.(VI,R1035)

Ground 9 alleged that victim impact evidence had been impermissibly presented to the jury during penalty phase. (VI,R1036) Mr. Tassone did not recall objecting to the victim impact evidence and could not dispute the contents of the motion.(VI,R1037) Mr. Tassone stated that he in 1993 he was aware of victim impact evidence, but was unaware of any jury instructions to address this evidence.(VI,R1037) Mr. Tassone requested no jury instruction as to the limited admissibility of victim impact evidence.(VI,R1039) Mr. Tassone acknowledged that he was concerned about victim impact, even to the point that he filed a motion for new trial and cited to concerns that the jury was impacted to the point that new trial was warranted.(VI,R1154) Mr. Tassone did not ever recall making this argument in any other case.(VI,R1154) Not only did one witness testify, but another brought a picture of the deceased victim to court

and the jury was continually taken past the deceased victim's family and the surviving victim.(VI,R1154)

In Ground 13 of the Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief Mr. Jones alleged that Mr. Tassone had failed to properly investigate mental health issues.(VI,R1042) Mr. Tassone had retained Dr. Miller as a confidential expert and had received a copy of his report in 1993.(VI,R1042-46) Mr. Tassone chose Dr. Miller because he wanted to rule out any issues of competency or insanity.(VI,R1048) He was familiar with Dr. Miller and they had previously worked together. Dr. Miller evaluated Mr. Jones and reported as to his competency to stand trial and his sanity at the time of the offense.(VI,R1050)

Mr. Tassone could not recall if he utilized Dr. Miller as a mental health expert for mitigation purposes. (VI,R1050) Due to his notes having been destroyed in the office fire, Mr. Tassone had nothing to refer to.(VI,R1050) He could not recall ever meeting with Dr. Miller to have penalty phase/mitigation conversations, but if he followed his pattern, Mr. Tassone would have done that.(VI,R1051)

Mr. Tassone did not request Dr. Miller to talk with family members of Mr. Jones in order to develop mitigation. (VI,R1052) Dr. Miller was not called as a mitigation

witness, despite the fact that his report contained a number of non-statutory mitigating circumstances. (VI,R1052) For example, the report stated that Mr. Jones suffers from compulsive personality disorder а which requires predictability in his environment and which was significantly lacking at the time of the offense. Mr. Tassone acknowledged this mitigating psychological factor could have been used to rebut the CCP aggravator and the "Dr. Jekyll/Mr. Hyde" features of the crime.(VI,R1055-56) This would have been especially critical given the great weight usually assigned to the CCP aggravator.(VI,R1145) Dr. Miller's report contained information which could have been used to combat what the judge believed to be planning to deliberate support the CCP aggravating circumstance.(VI,R1145) Mr. Tassone agreed that Dr. Miller's report would have been helpful mitigation evidence fairly important.(VI,R1145;1150) Dr. Miller's and was report was also critical because it presented unbiased evidence of mitigating factors.(VI,R1146) There was nothing damaging to Mr. Jones or his case contained in Dr. Miller's report that would have been necessary to shield from the jury.(VI,R1146-47)

The report also contained facts about the effect of

the crime on Mr. Jones, including depression which required medication and the loss of 40 pounds.(VI,R1057) This evidence of remorse was not presented to the jury as a non-statutory mitigating circumstance.(VI,R1057A) Mr. Tassone believed that Mr. Jones was remorseful.(VI,R1074)

Dr. Miller was available and could have been called as a witness.(VI,R1057A)

Ground 15 alleged that Mr. Tassone was ineffective in failing to call a number of witnesses in mitigation.

(VI,R1062) Mr. Tassone could not personally recall speaking to any of the lay witnesses in detail about their testimony or having an investigator do so and he had no notes to refresh his memory.(VI,R1062-64) He generally does talk to witnesses.(VI,R1063) Mr. Tassone did not recall talking with the family in this case. Mr. Tasone did not recall presenting such testimony to the court. Neither did Mr. Tassone recall presenting Mr. Jones's academic record, his musical ability, and leadership qualities to the court.(VI,R1065) Mr. Tassone did not recall presenting in mitigation that Mr. Jones had been а qood neighbor.(VI,R1066) This was a case where someone with a very positive background acted in a very atypical manner.(VI,R1068)

Mr. Tassone couldn't really recall exactly who he called as a witness in the penalty phase.(V,R896) The decisions on who to call were made after speaking with Mr. Jones.(V,R896) Mr. Tassone knew he spoke to Mr. Jones' wife, but wasn't sure if he talked with his parents or not. (V,R896) He did introduce Mr. Jones' naval records, which established an exemplary naval career.(V,R897) Mr. Tasssone did not believe that the State had genuinely attacked the home life, growing up life, or naval career.(V,R898) Some of the evidence would have been cumulative.(V,R893) He felt the jury was aware that this was a good man with a good family.(V,R900)

Mr. Tassone believed that Mr. Jones was under stress in his life at the time of the crime.(VI,R1067) Financial stress and stress transitioning from the military to civilian life were present.(VI,R1067) The financial circumstances resulted in a separation from his wife. (VI,R1070) He was having significant problems with Mr. Stow as a result of the car sale, whereby the car was having significant mechanical problems and Mr. Stow was demanding to be paid.(VI,R1072) Issues about the level of respect that Mr. Stow displayed to Mr. Jones were also present.

(VI,R1072) Mr. Tassone agreed that stresses make people more prone to act out in anger.(VI,R1073)

Mr. Tassone believed that Mr. Jones had been a model inmate during pretrial incarceration.(VI,R1075) He found him to be one of the most cooperative clients he had represented.(VI,R1074) He conducted himself with great dignity proper decorum throughout all and court proceedings.(VI,R1075) This type of behavior should have been presented as a mitigating circumstance.(VI,R1075) Mr. Tassone also believed that Mr. Jones would adapt well to life and maintain qood behavior prison in prison. (VI,R1076) This could also be considered a mitigating circumstance.(VI,R1076) Mr. Tassone voiced his opinion that he didn't think that this mitigation was that important, but admitted that it could be important to a judge or jury. (VI,R1155-56)

Ground 6 addressed the CCP findings in the sentencing order.(VI,R1085) The trial court had found that the crimes were carefully planned and not lapses in the defendant's usual personality and behavior.(VI,R1086) Mr. Tassone believed just the contrary was true.(VI,R1086) The judge noted the lack of mental health testimony to explain the contrast between the crimes and the regular personality of Mr. Jones.(VI,R1088) Mr. Tassone acknowledged that a mental health professional such as Dr. Miller could have provided testimony about these factors and have provided insight in the mental state of Mr. Jones at the time of the offense. (VI,R1089) Dr. Miller was not called as a witness to rebut the mental aspects of the aggravating circumstance of CCP and was not called to offer mental health testimony in mitigation.(VI,R1091) Mr. Tassone believed that he got in the mitigation he needed to through family witnesses. (VI,R1124) He did acknowledge that there was much more to Mr. Jones that just a good family man, a good military man, and a good husband.(V,R907)

Mr. Tassone sometimes sought coverage from another attorney for routine court hearings in the case.(VI,R1083) He was, however, solely responsible for the case and did not have co-counsel.(VI,R1083) He believed that this was difficult and felt at least two attorneys should always be appointed in death cases due to the tremendous amount of work and to act as back-up to catch potential things that are missed.(VI,R1083) Mr. Tassone also felt that two attorneys were necessary in cases such as this where the defense at trial (here, self-defense) is rejected by the jury during guilt phase and a second defense must then be

used during penalty phase to combat aggravating circumstances which is in contradiction to the guilt phase defense.(VI,R1143) Mr. Tassone did use the services of a private investigator, Mr. Moncreif.(VI,R1092)

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