IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARVIN BURNETT JONES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-282

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 989134

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE IV

Jones asserts that the postconviction court erred in denying his motion to interview jurors.

The trial court's ruling

In ground two, Defendant claims this Court's order denying his request to interview jurors violated his constitutional rights. Defendant contends this Court erred in denying his request based on the facts and the law raised in the of intention to interview notice jurors. Defendant, further, asserts that Rule 4-3.5(d)(4), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, is unconstitutional. This Court addressed these claims by Defendant in a written order entered on March 25, 2002, (Ex. "A") and an opinion filed June 3, 2002. (Ex. "B"). Accordingly, for the reasons set forth in the prior order, Defendant's claims regarding juror interviews are denied.

Standard of review

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. *State v. Goldwire*, 762 So.2d 996 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)(holding that the trial court abused its discretion by conducting a hearing on allegations of juror misconduct regarding a videotape label that was introduced at trial).

Procedurally Barred

This Court has repeatedly held that claim of juror misconduct are not proper in postconviction litigation. The claim should have been raised as error in the direct appeal of this case. They are not proper claims in postconviction proceedings when, as here, the basis of the

claim was known at the time of the direct appeal. Parker v. State, 2005 WL 673686, *6 (Fla. 2005)(rejecting a denial of his claim related to juror interviews and the trial court's failure to declare rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar unconstitutional because this claim should have been raised on direct appeal and concluding that it was procedurally barred from raising this issue); Jennings v. State, 782 So.2d 853, 864 (Fla. 2001)(holding that movant was procedurally barred from raising claim that he should have been allowed to interview jurors in postconviction proceedings because issue could have and should have been raised on direct appeal); Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509, 512 n. 5, 513 n. 6 (Fla.1999) (same).⁴

In Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909 (Fla. 2000), the Florida Supreme Court, in the postconviction proceedings of a capital case, rejected Arbelaez's claim that he should have been permitted to conduct juror interviews. The Court found this claim to be "both procedurally barred and legally insufficient." The Court explained that any claims relating to Arbelaez's inability to interview jurors should

⁴ The newspaper article was not known until after sentencing. However, the other claims of juror misconduct raised in the motion to interview were known and the basis of a claim in the motion for new trial. The known claims could have been raised in the direct appeal. Moreover, any constitutional challenge to the rule could have been raised on direct appeal.

and could have been raised on direct appeal. Furthermore, Arbelaez did not make a prima facie showing of any juror misconduct in his postconviction motion. As the Court observed, "he appears to be complaining about a defendant's inability to conduct 'fishing expedition' interviews with guilty verdict is returned." the jurors after а Accordingly, the Court concluded that, even if the claims were not procedurally barred, Arbelaez would not be entitled to relief and no evidentiary hearing was required on his juror interview claim. Arbelaez, 775 So.2d at 920.

Merits

In Johnson v. State, 804 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 2001), the Florida Supreme Court held the trial court properly denied the juror interview claim. Johnson was an appeal from a summary denial of a 3.850 motion in a capital case. Johnson asserted that he was denied effective assistance of postconviction counsel because his postconviction attorneys were prohibited, by rule, from interviewing jurors. Johnson, 804 So.2d at 1225. The trial court found the claim to be untimely, procedurally barred, and failed to show any juror misconduct. This Court, citing Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909 (Fla.2000), classified Johnson claims as an impermissible "fishing expedition". The Johnson Court held that the trial court properly denied this claim

without an evidentiary hearing because it was "without merit and procedurally barred". *Johnson*, 804 So.2d at 1225.

No Juror Misconduct

Jones asserts that certain statements made by several of the jurors reported in a March 12, 1995 Jacksonville Times Union newspaper article are evidence of juror misconduct. However, none of these statements reveal any juror misconduct. Foreman McGee opined that if the defendant did it once [commit murder], he could do it aqain. This is а statement regarding "specific deterrence." Just as a prosecutor properly may make such arguments in closing to justify the imposition of the death penalty, a juror properly may use "specific deterrence" reasoning in reaching a decision regarding the death penalty. Duren v. Hopper, 161 F.3d 655, 662-663 (11th Cir. 1998)(holding prosecutor's argument concerning possible future murders by Duren or others are proper references to either specific or general deterrence); Brooks v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 1383, 1407 (11th Cir.1985)(en banc)(finding that arguments based on special and general deterrence are appropriate in light of accepted penalogical justifications for use of death as a punishment). Juror Rooks, who expressed sympathy for the defendant repeatedly, thought that the judge knew more about the case because the judge

had access to all the other documents and that it was good to have another opinion [the judge's] as a sort of check and balance on the jury's recommendation. Judges, in fact, often do know more about the case and have access to additional information about the defendant such as the PSI. Muhammad v. State, 782 So. 2d 343, 361-365 (Fla. 2001)(finding that the trial court erred by according great weight to the jury's death recommendation where the defendant refused to present mitigating evidence and requiring the trial court to order and consider the PSI and other available mitigation evidence, such as school records, military records, and medical records and call as court witnesses with mitigating evidence, persons regardless of the defendant wishes at the new sentencing This juror's endorsement of the checks-andhearing). balances theory of decision making is just good common Juror Jefson, who noted sense. the "awesome responsibility" of making a death recommendation, was concerned about the victims and wanted to send a message to others who commit murder that death is a possible punishment but also expressed the view that this was a "one-time incident" and that Jones would not be a threat to society. Concern for the victims is not juror misconduct. Nor is the general deterrence rationale that this juror

expressed improper. penalty. *Duren*, 161 F.3d at 662-663; *Brooks*, 762 F.2d at 1407. Juror Jefson also stated that it helped people that the final decision was the judge's. This is an accurate statement of Florida law, not a violation of *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985). The final decision regarding the imposition of the death penalty is the judge's in Florida. This juror properly understood his role as that of co-sentencer but not final sentencer. Nothing in the newspaper accounts reveal any misconduct.

The jurors' statements reveal no misconduct. These jurors did not discuss any matter that they should not have discussed. The jurors did not say that the door influenced their decision or that the late hour caused them to "retreat from their previous individual decisions". Their statements merely show proper, normal, jury deliberations and thought processes. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to allow Jones to conduct a fishing expedition on these meritless allegations of juror misconduct.

This Court has rejected claims of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to interview jurors. *Parker v. State*, 2005 WL 673686, *6 (Fla. 2005)(noting that the Court has "cautioned against permitting jury interviews

to support post-conviction relief for allegations which focus upon jury deliberations" and therefore, counsel could not inquire into the jury's deliberations as Parker asserts.). Here, trial counsel could not have moved to interview the jurors based on the newspaper article because jurisdiction over this case vested in this Court with the filing of the notice of appeal in 1994 and the article was not published until 1995. He was not attorney of record by this time, appellate counsel, was.

ISSUE V

Jones asserts that limiting his access to public records violates due process. This Court has repeatedly rejected due process challenges to the public records statute and rule. Trial counsel's files were destroyed in a fire after the trial was finished. Fires and floods are acts of god, not due process violations.

The trial court's ruling

In ground 21, Defendant claims that his constitutional rights are being violated because his trial counsel's files have been destroyed by fire. Defendant contends that the destruction of the trial files prevents collateral counsel from providing adequate review and effective assistance. Mr. Tassone testified at the evidentiary hearing that subsequent to Defendant's trial, the files were stored in Mr. Tassone's office. Mr. Tassone testified that on March 21, 1994, "someone threw some molotov cocktails through the window of [his] office and two other offices that kind of form a triangle there in that area." (T.1, pg. 23). Mr. Tassone, further, testified that a "substantial" portion of his office was destroyed by the fire specifically, Defendant's files and, were destroyed in the fire. (T.1, pg. 24).

Defendant's trial file was destroyed through no fault of any one directly involved in this case. Mr. Tassone's testimony establishes that the fire at his office was an uncontrollable and unforeseeable act that was not intended purposely to destroy Defendant's trial file. Although the destruction of the trial file is unfortunate, this Court finds that the absence of a trial file has not prejudiced Defendant and thus a violation of Defendant's constitutional rights has not been established. Defendant was granted a hearing and was permitted to question Mr. Tassone concerning all aspects of his representation of Defendant. Accordingly, Defendant has been afforded a sufficient opportunity to adequately explore his claims for post-conviction relief.

In ground 22, Defendant claims he is being denied his right to public records because Florida's law governing access to public records is unconstitutional. Defendant raises several specific challenges to the laws governing access to public records. Defendant, however, does not allege which public records he has been denied he reference any specific records nor does request that was denied improperly. Moreover, Defendant filed numerous public records requests all of which were complied with by the various agencies. Defendant has made no claim that he has been improperly denied any records he requested. Accordingly, Defendant's claim is denied.

Evidentiary hearing

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that his files relating to this case were completely destroyed by fire. (EH Oct 21 at 23-24). The fire was the result of arson and occurred on March 21, 1994 shortly after the trial was complete. (EH Oct 21 at 23). The arsonist was not prosecuted in that case but was for a later arson. (EH Oct 21 at 155).

Merits

This Court has repeatedly rejected claims that the public records requirements violate due process. *Mills v. State*, 786 So.2d 547, 552 (Fla. 2001)(affirming denial of public records requests that were "overly broad, of

questionable relevance, and unlikely to lead to discoverable evidence" citing *Glock v. Moore*, 776 So.2d 243 (Fla. 2001) and *Sims v. State*, 753 So.2d 66 (Fla.2000) and observing that "it is equally clear that this discovery tool is not intended to be a procedure authorizing a fishing expedition for records unrelated to a colorable claim for postconviction relief."). Jones completely fails to acknowledge the controlling precedent against his position.

Fires are not a violation of due process or the right to counsel. Cf. Bottoson v. State, 674 So.2d 621, 624 (Fla. 1996)(holding trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to present the defendant's depression where the medical records were destroyed in a fire). Collateral counsel seems to be saying that anytime trial counsel's files are destroyed, whether by fire or flood, a defendant's constitutional rights are violated. Nothing that happened to counsel's files after the trial could affect Jones' trial rights. Moreover, because the files support trial counsel against a claim of ineffectiveness, the destruction of the records probably harms the State more than the defendant.

ISSUE VI

asserts that the "prior" violent felony Jones aggravator should encompass only "prior" felonies, not contemporaneous ones. This issue is procedurally barred. Jones is raising a statutory construction challenge to the aggravator. Such a challenge should have been raised in the direct appeal; it is not proper in post-conviction litigation. Moreover, this exact claim was not presented to the postconviction court. Postconviction counsel raised an ineffectiveness of trial counsel claim for failing to object to the aggravator on this basis, not a straight claim that the aggravator should be limited to prior felonies. Postconviction counsel may not raise one claim in the trial court and then morph the claim on appeal. Furthermore, the challenge is meritless. This Court has repeatedly rejected such challenges to the prior violent felony aggravator.

The trial court's ruling

In ground three, Defendant claims counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to know the law, failing to argue effectively or failing to object to evidence and argument at trial. Defendant claims counsel failed to object penalty phase instruction on the to the aggravating factor of "prior violent felony." During the penalty phase, the Court instructed the jury that Defendant had previously been convicted of the attempted first degree murder of Ezra Stow. Defendant contends that since

Defendant was convicted of the attempted murder and the first-degree murder in the same case, the attempted murder conviction was a contemporaneous conviction rather than a prior conviction and should not have been weighed as an aggravator to support a death sentence. Defendant argues that the State should not have been permitted to use the contemporaneous conviction to support the aggravator of prior violent felony. Defendant had no significant criminal history prior to the March 3, 1992, shooting at San Pablo Motors.

the evidentiary hearing, Mr. At Tassone filing any testified that he did not recall challenge motions to the use of the contemporaneous conviction. (T.1, pq. 33). However, any objection would have been meritless. The use of contemporaneous convictions prior to sentencing can qualify as previous convictions. Francis v. State, 808 So.2d 110, 136 (Fla. 2001); and Mahn v. State, 714 So.2d 391 (1998). "Trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise meritless claims or claims that had no reasonable probability of affecting the outcome of the proceeding." Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So.2d 1009, 1023 (Fla. 1999). Accordingly, Defendant has failed to demonstrate error on the part of counsel or prejudice to his case.

Evidentiary hearing

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that he could not recall making an objection on this basis or his reasoning for not doing so. (EH Oct 21 at 33). Trial counsel testified that he did not like using a contemporaneous felony as a "prior" violent felony aggravator because it could be confusing to a jury who was also being asked to weigh the no significant criminal history mitigator. (EH Oct 21 at 35). Trial counsel agreed

that the law, both at the time of trial and currently, allows the state to use a contemporaneous murder to establish the prior violent felony aggravator. (EH Oct 21 at 127).

Procedural Bar

This claim is procedurally barred in postconviction litigation. Thompson v. State, 796 So.2d 511, 514 n.5 (Fla. 2001)(rejecting an automatic aggravator attack on the felony murder aggravator in post-convition litigation as procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal); Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 213 (Fla. 2002)(finding the substantive claim that death sentence unconstitutional automatic rests on an aggravating circumstance should have been raised on direct appeal and thus is procedurally barred). If Jones wanted to challenge this Court's interpretation of the prior violent felony aggravator, he needed to do so in his direct appeal.

Merits

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